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● (1100)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. Robert Morrissey (Egmont, Lib.)): I call this

meeting to order.

Committee members, could you take your seats? We are ready to
begin. The clerk has advised me that we have a quorum.

Welcome to meeting number 130 of the Standing Committee on
Human Resources, Skills, Social Development and the Status of
Persons with Disabilities. Today's meeting is taking place in a hy‐
brid format, but all of our witnesses and committee members are
appearing in person in the room.

I would like to advise those in the room of a couple of items.

You have the option of choosing to participate in the official lan‐
guage of your choice. Translation is available through the headset. I
suggest you get familiar with it before we begin, because we some‐
times have a few issues with being on the right channel for partici‐
pating in the language of your choice. If there's an issue with trans‐
lation services, please raise your hand and I will suspend while it is
being corrected.

As well, in the meeting process, please direct all questions and
comments through the chair and wait until I recognize you by name
before commenting or taking the floor.

Those with devices, please make sure alarms are turned off be‐
fore we begin, because these sounds can cause issues for the trans‐
lators. As well, please refrain from tapping the boom on the mic,
because, again, it causes issues for the translators. We cannot pro‐
ceed without translation services.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Thursday, June 3, 2024, the committee is continuing
its study on advancements in homebuilding technologies.

I would like to welcome our witnesses.

We have Jim Facette, executive director, Canadian Roofing Con‐
tractors Association; Daniel Pascoe, chief commercial officer,
Flexobuild Inc.; and Marcos Silveira, director of engineering at
Printerra 3D Construction Printing.

Today we're going with one two-hour panel for the full duration
of the meeting. Gentlemen, you each have five minutes for your
opening remarks. At around five minutes, I will ask you to wrap up
your comments whenever you can.

We'll begin with Mr. Facette for five minutes.

Mr. Facette, you have the floor.

Mr. Jim Facette (Executive Director, Canadian Roofing Con‐
tractors Association): Good morning, Mr. Chair. Thank you for
having me back at this committee.

I was here in the month of June. Thank you again to all the com‐
mittee members for the opportunity. Thank you for being here.

This past June, I appeared here during our industry's national
roofing week. Perhaps someday we can have a national trades day
during roofing week.

The Canadian Roofing Contractors Association represents over
400 Canadian industrial, commercial and institutional roofing con‐
tractors, companies and needed suppliers. Some of our members do
both non-residential and residential roofing and building envelope
systems. In fact, many may have started in residential and moved
over to non-residential.

Our member companies vary in size, from as many as 6,000 em‐
ployees across North America to as few as 12. Most contracting
companies would likely be classified as small to medium-sized en‐
terprises.

The following are our comments on some industrial, commercial
and institutional roofing and building envelope advancements that
can be used in multi-unit residential construction and perhaps
someday in single-family units.

New housing investments of any nature create communities.
These communities need infrastructure services, be they schools,
hospitals, recreational complexes or shopping facilities. CRCA
members will be called upon to meet the demand.

There is a related challenge. In the roofing and building envelope
industry, there is an acute need for people in all facets of the busi‐
ness. We need skilled and unskilled labour. We need superinten‐
dents, project managers, estimators, engineers and so on. This is
why the industry has turned to technological advancements as one
way forward.

No matter the technology, innovation or other enhancement, we
still need people to build and manage the construction of the build‐
ings.



2 HUMA-130 October 22, 2024

Perhaps two of the more known ways that are used in the ad‐
vancement of industrial, commercial and institutional roofing and
building envelope construction are modular construction and insu‐
lation. Each has a residential application. Often used interchange‐
ably, prefabricated construction and modular construction are dif‐
ferent.

Prefabricated construction involves the creation of building com‐
ponents in a controlled environment before they are transported for
assembly.

Modular construction, a subset of prefabrication, consists of cre‐
ating complete modules or units in a factory setting. These modules
can include walls, floors, ceilings and integrated systems, which
form self-contained units.

The ICI construction modular systems use integrated compo‐
nents that include preassembled units that integrate insulation,
membranes and structural elements. This has the potential to en‐
hance overall performance and ease of installation.

Use of modular systems has the potential to speed up construc‐
tion. Given that it is in a controlled environment, there are likely to
be quality control improvements. There are many examples, but I'll
only look at one because of time constraints.

The Hive in Vancouver, British Columbia, is a mixed-use devel‐
opment featuring modular construction for both residential and
commercial spaces, with an emphasis on sustainable building prac‐
tices. This project includes roofing systems that enhance energy ef‐
ficiency, and the design facilitated rapid construction. It is con‐
structed with advanced mass timber systems using prefabricated
cross-laminated timber panels—CLT in the industry—and glue-
laminated timber columns, bracing and beams.

When it comes to insulation systems, there is something called
“continuous insulation” systems. These are wall assemblies where
insulation is applied continuously across all structural elements of a
building's exterior without thermal bridging. This is not the time for
a class on thermal bridging. However, I will say that thermal bridg‐
ing refers to the transfer of heat through conductive materials with
insulated areas, leading to energy loss in the winter and heat gain in
the summer.

One application for continuous use in systems in commercial and
residential is exterior foam board. These attach directly to the exte‐
rior of the sheathing or framing. Such systems provide higher ener‐
gy efficiency ratings. Given the limited time, I will say there are
many examples of technological advancement in construction that
will lead to greater efficiencies and faster outcomes.

However, technology alone will not resolve the current housing
supply issue, and not all technological advancements are used on a
mass scale to make a significant impact.

I said this in June and I say it often: We should all encourage our
children, grandchildren or anyone else for that matter to pursue a
career in a trade. We are all touched in some way by the current
housing situation in Canada. The CRCA does not see a one-size-
fits-all solution going forward. The housing crisis will not be re‐
solved overnight. It's going to take time.

● (1105)

Our members want to see governments and industry work to‐
gether to build communities Canadians want to live and thrive in.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Facette. You're right on time.

We'll now go to Mr. Pascoe for five minutes, please.

Mr. Daniel Pascoe (Chief Commercial Officer, Flexobuild In‐
corporated): Good morning.

My name is Daniel Pascoe. I'm the chief commercial officer and
co-founder of Flexobuild Incorporated, a Canadian company based
in the Niagara region of Ontario.

In response to the current housing crisis in Canada, Flexobuild
has developed a practical, long-term solution for neighbourhood
housing, densification and new-home developments. We saw an op‐
portunity to create a solution whereby multi-generational families
could remain close by while maintaining their independence and
dignity. Many elderly couples are interested in moving into their
own ADU, or accessory dwelling unit, sometimes referred to as a
garden suite or a laneway house, while their younger family mem‐
bers reside in the main home. It's a smart use of home equity and a
way to revitalise neighbourhoods that have space for these
dwellings. There is also an income opportunity for homeowners.
Those with under-utilized large backyards can rent their ADUs on a
long-term basis, providing much-needed housing for others. This
not only helps address the housing shortage, but also allows home‐
owners to benefit financially from their existing property.

At Flexobuild, we use a prefabricated structural steel insulated-
panel system to assemble complete homes. This includes a floor,
walls and roof, with home sizes ranging from 450 square feet to
1,300 square feet as standard models. These homes can be expand‐
ed or contracted in both directions to fit specific property lines, giv‐
ing homeowners total flexibility. Our product is 100% Canadian-
designed and manufactured. We contribute directly to our economy
and maintain the highest standards of quality. Flexobuild homes are
suitable for installation in all provinces and territories across
Canada, ensuring safety and durability in all environments.
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Leveraging the automotive industry standard of design for manu‐
facturing and assembly, or DFMA, not only allows us to streamline
the process and deliver homes that are fast to build and scheduled
for exact, on-time delivery, but also ensures consistency in the final
product. Our homes feature spacious interiors with ceilings up to 12
feet, creating a sense of openness and enhancing the overall feeling
of space. Despite their smaller footprint, Flexobuild homes feel airy
and spacious.

The Flexobuild system is delivered flat-packed on a flatbed truck
to the client's site, which is just one of the unique aspects of
Flexobuild. Importantly, the installation of the home does not re‐
quire road closures, and we do not impede traffic in the local area.
There is no need for heavy, large cranes and lift structures. Standard
hand-operated tools are the only tools required on site. A local gen‐
eral contractor, part of our FlexoConnect program, handles the in‐
stallation of the home, including essential services such as plumb‐
ing and electrical work. In just four to five days, the exterior of the
home is complete, including windows and doors, with minimal dis‐
ruption to the neighbourhood. There is no heavy equipment noise,
making the process seamless and neighbour friendly. Every single
piece of the home can be carried through a garden gate by two peo‐
ple, illustrating the ease of installation.

The standard foundation option of helical screw piles allows the
home to be built above ground and installed on sloped properties,
without concern for the ground type. Furthermore, due to the steel
exterior of the home, our homes are critter-proof, adding an extra
layer of durability. The FlexoConnect member would finish the in‐
terior of the home, making it move-in ready within about four to six
weeks. The entire process of delivery, installation and interior fin‐
ishing takes less than two months.

While the Flexobuild process is highly efficient, many of our
clients still face challenges, especially with building permit applica‐
tions. Many homeowners find the process confusing and indeed
overwhelming, as building regulations can vary significantly be‐
tween municipalities. Each area has its own specific sets of rules
and processes regarding setbacks, building height, lot coverage and
the comparative size of the ADU compared to the main dwelling.

New property developers also encounter significant obstacles
when looking to place multiple homes in larger communities.
Changing or adjusting local zoning and obtaining approvals for
larger property developments can be a very complex and costly
process, making it challenging to expand these much-needed hous‐
ing solutions. Flexobuild has a solution and a product to help ad‐
dress Canada's housing crisis with rapid, efficient and family-cen‐
tred solutions. With government support and regulatory reform, we
can provide faster housing for thousands of families, while support‐
ing local tradespeople and revitalizing neighbourhoods across
Canada.

Thank you for your time. My name is Daniel Pascoe, and I'll be
happy to answer any questions you may have.

● (1110)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Pascoe.

We will now go to Mr. Silveira for five minutes, please.

Dr. Marcos Silveira (Director of Engineering, Printerra 3D
Construction Printing): Good morning. Thanks for having me to‐
day to speak about the potential of additive construction, commonly
known as 3-D printing, and its role as a powerful tool to help ad‐
dress Canada's housing crisis challenges.

My name is Marcos Silveira. I serve as a director of engineering
at Printerra 3DCP. In addition to my role at Printerra, I chair the
ASTM WK84415 committee, which deals with standard practice
for evaluation of structural printed elements. I also contribute to the
ASTM F42 ISO JG80, focused on development of standards prac‐
tice for additive construction in general.

I'm also part of some committees in the U.S., such as ICC and
NIST. However, it's worth mentioning that Canada has yet to estab‐
lish any standard committees for additive construction.

At Printerra 3DCP we provide additive construction services,
and we are proud to be part of a larger group of construction com‐
panies dedicated to innovation in this space.

Additive construction techniques are demonstrating their value
globally by enabling faster construction of high-quality, cost-effec‐
tive homes. In countries like the United States, Germany and the
Netherlands, 3-D printing is already producing entire structural
components, from foundation walls to full housing units. These
printed structures are not only faster to produce but also provide
unique benefits such as enhanced material efficiency, optimized de‐
sign integration and reduced environmental impact, making homes
more sustainable in the long term.

Research conducted in Canada, including my own work as a re‐
search fellow at the University of Windsor, published in the Cana‐
dian Journal of Civil Engineering under the title “Structural perfor‐
mance of large-scale 3D-printed walls subjected to axial compres‐
sion load”, has demonstrated the potential of additive construction
in producing robust structural components. These findings also sug‐
gest that additive construction can meet and exceed both Canadian
and American masonry standards, further validating its role in ad‐
dressing our housing needs. This research, by the way, was part of
the Leamington project that Fiona Coughlin, the CEO of Habitat
for Humanity in Windsor, mentioned to you all a couple of weeks
ago.



4 HUMA-130 October 22, 2024

However, despite these advancements, Canada still faces several
roadblocks that prevent us from fully leveraging additive construc‐
tion technologies. Current regulations are not designed to accom‐
modate innovation, including additive construction, which limits
our ability to apply this technology in commercial and residential
projects. The above-mentioned paper suggests that 3-D printed
walls can be designed to meet masonry standards. However, inter‐
pretations differ across municipalities, resulting in inconsistencies.
Developing new standards and guidelines for 3-D printing con‐
struction is crucial, but the process could take seven to 10 years, far
too slow to meet society's urgent needs. Immediate solutions are re‐
quired to make this technology impactful and address today's chal‐
lenges effectively.

A comprehensive, unified research initiative that systematically
addresses critical knowledge gaps in additive construction remains
absent. Current research efforts are often disconnected and not
aligned with industry needs, lacking focus on practical applications
that could drive the development of the industry standards and
building codes. A coordinated research strategy guided by these
crucial gaps is necessary to ensure that findings directly support the
creation of robust standards, design guidelines and building codes.
To enable the widespread adoption of 3-D printing in Canada's con‐
struction sector, it is crucial to align research, industry expertise,
and the development of standards and building codes.

The accelerated retirement of skilled workers and the lack of new
talent entering the trades have led to a growing gap in the available
workforce. The shift toward automation in construction requires
workers skilled in robotics, new materials and innovative technolo‐
gies. While traditional workers are experiencing conventional
methods, they need specialized training to adapt to additive con‐
struction. Investing in targeted education and training will ensure
our workforce can support this technology shift.

In conclusion, 3-D printing offers a transformative solution to
Canada's housing crisis by reducing costs, enhancing sustainability
and speeding up construction timelines. However, to fully realize
this potential, we must address several key challenges: advancing
targeted research to fill gaps identified by industry players, rapidly
updating building codes and standards to accommodate innovation,
and investing in specialized workforce training. With these impor‐
tant elements in place, additive construction can reshape the hous‐
ing sector and significantly contribute to meeting the growing de‐
mand for affordable housing in Canada.
● (1115)

Thank you for having me.
The Chair: Thank you so much for that.

We now have ample time for an in-depth discussion on this very
important subject. We begin with Mr. Aitchison for six minutes.

Mr. Scott Aitchison (Parry Sound—Muskoka, CPC): Thanks,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses who are all here. There are a lot of
similarities but a lot of differences too. It's really interesting stuff.

I'd like to start with Mr. Pascoe. The concept of home kits, like
modular construction or factory-built homes, is not a new thing in

Canada. It was done in the past—I mean, you used to be able to or‐
der your home out of the Sears catalogue—but I'm wondering
whether you can speak to some of the reasons that the pre-built
home, the catalogue home or that whole industry is so much small‐
er.

● (1120)

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I think that, with prefabricated homes as a
whole, there were many restrictions with regard to that. For one,
they need to be made in a factory. There's a huge investment re‐
quired for that process. They're made in traditional methods as
well. We speak today about robotic 3-D printed materials, tradition‐
al wood and metal construction and so on, but it still requires a sig‐
nificant investment and a large factory footprint to create these
homes. Don't forget, of course, that they need to be transported to
the customer or client's site, which, as you know—as you see one
of these massive homes being driven down the 401—has issues in
itself.

Whether that's one of the reasons for the decline in that, I do not
know. However, the whole purpose of, in my case, Flexobuild, is
that because the whole kit is flat-packed, literally, on a flatbed trail‐
er, that trailer can get to virtually anywhere. It requires a simple
forklift to unload the panels on site, including the panels, the frame
and everything you need to assemble that home, including the fas‐
teners. That's why we went down that route. It doesn't require too
much investment in the sense of building a factory, and the method
of getting those homes into the backyard of a home in an estab‐
lished neighbourhood is very practical indeed.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Can you speak a bit about the approvals
process? You can scale up a factory to build a lot of product pretty
fast, but you have to have a place for it to go. Of course, getting
those sites for the building to go is a municipal approvals process.
How's that going for you?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: The building permit process is the biggest
roadblock of all. I mean, even if you have clients—and when I talk
about clients, predominantly I'm talking about private homeowners
who have equity in their home that they're willing to borrow
against—getting that building permit process under way is an ex‐
tremely overwhelming and daunting task. We all assume, “Just ap‐
ply for a building permit,” but every single municipality has a dif‐
ferent process. You may have a brother-in-law or someone who had
a great time in Milton, Ontario, but just down the road in Burling‐
ton it's a completely different process just to start the actual permit
process itself.
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You also have the money involved in doing so. That's potentially
restrictive, because you are wondering whether it will get approved.
Every single municipality is different, as I explained briefly, with
regard to the footprint of the home and to the actual property itself,
or in comparison to the actual main dwelling unit. The setbacks
from the fence.... You may have, in one municipality, a three-foot
setback, which means that the house can start at three feet from the
property line, whereas another one could have 12 feet, and those 12
feet now, behind a home, are potentially a complete waste of space,
as you can imagine, unless you have a kayak to put behind there.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Aside from these different rules about set‐
backs and those kinds of things, do different interpretations of
building code, delays in terms of getting approvals and all of those
things add to the ultimate cost of the unit?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Well, let's be honest: Time is money, and
time is enthusiasm. You know, in January you have a person who
wants to build in spring, but spring has come and gone.

Don't forget that, because every single municipality is different
in its process and requirements for meeting certain local bylaws, we
need to standardize, across the provinces and the country, the basic
understanding of what is included. It's not only that, but we need to
make sure we have enough staff at the municipal levels to handle
the volume of building permits. There should be enough staff in
comparison to the population—or to the expected ADU applica‐
tions in my case.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: I have to think that your product would re‐
duce the need for municipal staff for inspections. You're governed
by CSA standards, as opposed to local building—

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: In actual fact, we're not a CSA standard
product, because we meet what I call a “part four” of the building
code; it's an engineer-stamped drawing, in fact. CSA would be
more applicable to a prefabricated home built in a factory.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Okay.
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: The simplicity of our business model is

sometimes not recognized at the building permit level, because ev‐
ery single municipality has a different interpretation of the building
code, be it the provincial one or the federal one.
● (1125)

Having regulatory reform.... As I mentioned, there's a standard
set of basic rules for them to adhere to. Not only that, but time lim‐
its are put on them. If a building permit is applied for, how long
does a municipality have?

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Give them hard and fast deadlines to make
a decision.

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Absolutely.

There are certain municipalities I could speak of where there's a
10-day turnaround for any application. The municipality asks the
client this question. When the client answers it—normally, they
have the answer immediately at hand—they have up to 10 days to
respond. They take those 10 days. Why is that? Where is the digiti‐
zation of building permit processes across provinces, municipali‐
ties, federal...and everything else? It's so antiquated.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Okay.

I'm out of time. I have a lot more questions for all of you, but I'll
come back to them.

Thanks.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Aitchison.

Mr. Coteau, you have six minutes.

Mr. Michael Coteau (Don Valley East, Lib.): Thank you,
Chair.

Thank you to our guests for being here today.

This has been an interesting study for us. We've listened to many
different Canadian entrepreneurs, companies and researchers re‐
garding the different technologies they're adopting, and it's been
quite fascinating.

I have a couple of questions. I'll start with Mr. Silveira.

What made you decide to invest your time in 3-D printing, and
why that technology? There are so many different technologies out
there. What makes that different for you? You're an academic, but
you decided you're going into structural printing.

Dr. Marcos Silveira: That's a good question.

I got my training in structural engineering. When I was doing my
Ph.D., I realized that, even though we have some technology avail‐
able, such as artificial intelligence, design optimization and genera‐
tive design.... We have all of those tools available to design our
structures. However, sometimes, as designers, we are not allowed
to use them. The regular building process limits our use of them to
enhance or optimize the potential of those structures, because
they're going to have shapes that are much more like structures that
come from nature, like a tree. It's very hard for us to produce that in
order to build those structures using regular systems and construc‐
tion processes.

When I saw additive constructions and 3-D printing, I saw an op‐
portunity to enhance that potential from the artificial intelligence
side of things.

Mr. Michael Coteau: At the end of the day, for typical construc‐
tion with concrete and other materials.... With three-D printing, of
course, there's probably an efficiency piece regarding timing. Is
there a difference cost-wise?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: Yes, there is a difference.

Right now, depending on the size of the project and whether
you're building one home or multiple homes, it's going to vary.

Here are a few numbers. For example, for a particular Leaming‐
ton project I was part of during my period at the University of
Windsor, we saved time. It was cheaper than building the exact
same build right beside that one. We had savings on that. Keep in
mind that we were still using the current regulations, building codes
and design guidelines, meaning we were still not able to use an op‐
timization process like artificial intelligence in that application.
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What we foresee in the future is that, once we get specific stan‐
dards and guidelines developed for this technology—we know very
well, as a community, what the behaviour is of those components—
we will enhance that reduction potential even more. This connects
with the environmental impact. When using less material, we're go‐
ing to, of course, use fewer resources.

Mr. Michael Coteau: Thank you very much, Mr. Pascoe, and
thank you for being here.

Did you start the company? Are you the founder as well?
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I'm one of the founders, yes.
Mr. Michael Coteau: What got you to this point where you de‐

cided one day that you're going to switch gears and go in this direc‐
tion? What was the turning point for you?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: We discussed this among friends, of course.
My co-founders are my friends. We were looking at how we could
address this housing crisis. I don't mean from a business perspec‐
tive, but just from an emotional aspect. Our largest inquiry base is
from elderly people who live in very valuable homes in today's
world. They used to be $100,000, and now they're about $1.5 mil‐
lion, or whatever it is. They're sitting on this equity. There are many
methods of spending that equity or passing it down to their chil‐
dren. If they have a large enough backyard, they could build an
ADU, as it was in our case. They can move in there, and the
younger family, with grandchildren and so on, can move into the
main house.
● (1130)

Mr. Michael Coteau: They're good parents.
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Indeed. At some point, they're going to get

the money.

Alternatively, of course, if they don't have a large enough back‐
yard, they could sell their property, and their son or daughter may
be able to add an ADU in their backyard. Just that emotional side of
it, for me personally, I found very interesting. The speed with
which we can develop empty ground to a finished building is very
impressive. I'm from an engineering manufacturing background—
not the construction industry, I stress—so I found the whole con‐
cept to be the product. That's the result, and it's done. There are no
variables there.

Mr. Michael Coteau: I noticed on the website that there was one
cost for the actual kit, and one cost for the construction. Is that cor‐
rect?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: That's correct.
Mr. Michael Coteau: Do people sometimes come in and say,

“We just want the kit; we're going to build it ourselves?” Is it al‐
ways a package that comes together? How does that work?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Flexobuild just supplies the kit itself. As
you said, on the website, you have the two prices there.

Mr. Michael Coteau: Right.
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: There's nothing worse than not finding

prices on a website and having the daunting task of picking up the
phone in this day and age. We wanted to make it as transparent as
possible.

The second number there is a very good estimate of how much it
would cost to employ a general contractor to install and finish the
home in its entirety. No one cares how much the home kit is, be‐
cause they're not construction people.

Mr. Michael Coteau: Right.

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: We want to make that as transparent as pos‐
sible. When you go to buy a car, it starts off at $45,000 and ends up
at $70,000. No, ours starts and finishes with that number, and that's
the whole point behind it.

Mr. Michael Coteau: Thank you.

The Chair: Next, we have Madame Chabot, for six minutes.

[Translation]

Ms. Louise Chabot (Thérèse-De Blainville, BQ): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for being here.

Since the start of this study, we have seen that your sector is able
to innovate. We know there has been a lot of innovation in the auto‐
motive sector, which is another important economic sector. Now we
are seeing that in the residential, commercial and industrial con‐
struction sector.

I invited worker representatives from FTQ-Construction to ap‐
pear as witnesses for this study. As you know, Quebec has its own
characteristics, including the Régie du bâtiment du Québec, its
building authority. The worker representatives made three very im‐
portant points.

First, work has to be done with regard to skills. You talked about
qualifications earlier. With your new models, including automation
and robotics, there are challenges for workers. Secondly, attention
has to be paid to workplace health and safety. Third, the culture or
paradigm in the industry needs to change.

My question is for the three witnesses. What are the main chal‐
lenges that your companies are facing with regard to the workers
who contribute to construction and innovation?

[English]

Dr. Marcos Silveira: Yes, that's a good question, especially
when you start to use automation in construction. A 3-D printer is
an automation system. It's a system that can deploy concrete or oth‐
er material, but most of the time we are working with concrete. It
can deploy concrete based on your 3-D model and, of course, the
closed operation doesn't require too much human interaction when
you're doing the printing itself, meaning that your workers are go‐
ing to be far away from the concrete deployment itself when you're
printing the deployment of the concrete.

I don't have any official research data to show here, but it is ex‐
pected to improve the safety of the workers by using automation, as
you're keeping them a little more busy with the automation side of
things, the programming of the machines and operating the ma‐
chines far away from the deployment of the material itself.
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● (1135)

Mr. Jim Facette: When it comes to safety, there's nothing more
important in non-residential construction than the safety of the
workers, period, end of story. Safety adds to the bottom line. Safety
is the culture of any organization. It's exceptionally important.

When it comes to the technologies and how they impact the
workers going forward, our members see technology as a tool to
enhance the efficiency, not just of the construction process but also
of training the people.

We are constantly looking at our training. As we know, Red Seal
in Canada is the recognized trade training across Canada. Roofing
is a Red Seal trade. We have two associations in Canada that train
at the Red Seal level in British Columbia and New Brunswick.
British Columbia's is outstanding. They do an exceptional job.

The irony is, notwithstanding the technology that we're seeing
advance and push industry from our manufacturers and others, the
training you can get in British Columbia to be basically what we'd
call a tinsmith back in the day still exists.

There is still necessary work to be done on a roof or a wall that
will require a human to do something. Are we at a place in time
where maybe there will be more robotics? There's a possibility that
the answer is yes. There is some work being done by a professor at
the University of British Columbia who is of the opinion that robots
could go on a construction site right now. I don't know about that,
but having said that, we don't see an outright replacement of work‐
ers with new technologies.

We do see, as my colleague mentioned, that there will be a need
for different types of training of people, absolutely, but at the end of
the day, you're still going to need someone like my son, who is a
superintendent with a roofing company, to coordinate in advance
the people to do the work that's required.

What you don't see, when you look at a job site, are the consul‐
tants and the engineers. You don't see the superintendents. You
don't see the estimating that goes on prior to the job even getting
started. There are a lot of professionals who do a lot of work, and,
yes, they're using technology—they use artificial intelligence to
help them do their job—but at the end of the day, the chief estima‐
tor still has to take responsibility for that work. Technology will
make work more efficient, but will there be an outright replacement
of people? We don't see that.
[Translation]

The Chair: You have five seconds left, Ms. Chabot.
Ms. Louise Chabot: Thank you, Mr. Facette.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Chabot.

[English]

We'll now go to Madam Zarrillo for six minutes.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo (Port Moody—Coquitlam, NDP): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

I certainly have some questions for the witnesses, but before I
do, I just want to recognize, Mr. Chair, that we experienced an at‐
mospheric river in B.C. this past weekend. In my community of
Coquitlam, a dearly beloved elementary school teacher died. Her

home was swept away in the atmospheric river. Her name was
Sonya McIntyre. I just want to recognize that today as we talk
about housing and the need for safe, affordable, resilient housing.

I want to share with the panellists that, as a parliamentary com‐
mittee and parliamentarians, we don't do operations. We do legisla‐
tion and regulations.

I'm really interested in how the federal government can keep cur‐
rent and assist in getting affordable, accessible, climate-resilient
housing built. I'm thinking right now specifically about remote and
rural indigenous communities. We have an NDP member from
Nunavut who talks a lot about the inability to get housing built
quickly. I'm really interested in your knowledge, your skills and
your experience around how we can access these remote communi‐
ties and quickly get them housing that's going to be climate-re‐
silient.

I'm going to ask everyone. Maybe I'll start with Mr. Pascoe, and
then I'll go to Mr. Facette and then Mr. Silveira. You go to way
more conferences than we do. You talk to way more people. I'm in‐
terested in what we need to know as legislators.

● (1140)

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Speaking from my experience with
Flexobuild, building in a rural community is quite straightforward
for us. Getting the product there is easy in the sense that, like I said
before, it's a flat-packed, “panelized” product on a flatbed truck, so
you can get to the site.

Having skilled labour on site, obviously, is required. That being
said, Jim mentioned the Red Seal programs, and these need to be
encouraged across our country for the construction industry, be‐
cause you do need to have a good skill base to assemble our homes
on-site.

Getting the products to rural sites or first nations sites in the out‐
er reaches of Canada is not problematic for us, but it does require
the skill base on site there to assemble our homes.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Thank you.

Maybe some investment in training and the ability to move—

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Absolutely. That should be Canada-wide.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Yes, as should be the ability to move from
province to territory and territory to province.

Mr. Facette, go ahead.
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Mr. Jim Facette: It's a challenge. The late Norman Schwarzkopf
said that logistics win the war. The logistics of remote communities
present a problem in terms of getting prefabricated materials up
there. You have to do an awful lot of planning in advance. It's not
that it cannot be done; it can be done, but it's all about the logistics.
It depends on what you want. If you want multi-unit facilities to be
built, you need to prefabricate as much as you can off-site, bring it
up there and then, as my colleague to my left said, have the right
people on site to assemble the units. Logistics become a challenge.

Having had a son who has worked remotely for a large multina‐
tional corporation, I know that finding people who will work in re‐
mote sites is difficult. There are younger people in construction
who don't want to do it; that is the simple truth. My son did it; he
loved it, and he got paid for it. He got paid handsomely for it as a
young guy. I tease him a bit about making too much money at 23.
However, it's the truth, so you have a challenge there.

As for things that governments can do, perhaps look at the tax
structure. Are there incentives governments can offer people to
work in more remote locations? Are there incentives they can offer
companies to do work there? It does present its own challenges to
work in the north. It's not about who's living on the land or who has
it; that's not the issue at all. It's not there. It's more about the logis‐
tics and getting people to be there who want to be there. There's a
lot of work to be done all across Canada, no matter where you are.
It's just finding the time and giving the businesses and the people
the right incentives to say, “Hey, we need you in this community to
build X, Y and Z.”

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: That's interesting.

Marcos, please go ahead.

Dr. Marcos Silveira: It's good to make it clear that additive con‐
struction has a lot of applications. The application I have the most
experience with is on-site printing, which means bringing the print‐
er to the site to use local material and to use as much as you can
from the local community to deliver your product. We are shipping
a printer that is considerably big equipment, but it's not as large as
some of the equipment. It fits inside a 20-foot shipping container,
so it's not a big challenge to move this component to remote loca‐
tions.

I also had the chance to work on a specific project that was ac‐
complished in Alberta for the Siksika first nation community. The
project was in a remote area more than an hour outside Calgary. We
were pretty successful in accomplishing that project, because we
were using local material, meaning that we were using local sand
and gravel and trying as much as we could to use local Portland ce‐
ment as well. Another thing we are working to reduce is the use of
Portland cement, to improve the environmental efficiency of the
technology.

This on-site additive construction is suitable for remote areas. In
terms of what we can do to further improve the application of this
technology for this specific problem that we have, that would in‐
volve the things I have already mentioned throughout my com‐
ments here.

It's pretty much a new technology. It's still new in this country.
We still need to work on standards and updating building codes.
That also brings attention to research, because those standards—

● (1145)

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Zarrillo and Mr. Silveira. You
can continue on with that, I'm sure, with another member's ques‐
tion.

We'll now go to Mr. Seeback for five minutes.

Mr. Kyle Seeback (Dufferin—Caledon, CPC): All of you have
talked about skilled trades, which is something I want to delve into
a bit because it will, of course, affect building innovation.

I wanted to say, Mr. Facette, that my family started in the roofing
business. My grandfather started a company, Seeback and Sons
Roofing, in Toronto in 1935. I understand the importance of getting
work like that done.

We have a trades deficit. You've all talked about it. I know that
from my travel across the country. The Red Seal program is fantas‐
tic.

One of the things the government has done is to cut the appren‐
tice completion grant. If you don't know of that, the apprentice
completion grant will give you $1,000, up to $2,000 for every level
you complete on your Red Seal as you go through it. At level one,
you can get $1,000. At the next level, you can get another $1,000.
It's a great incentive for keeping people in the skilled trades and
drawing people into skilled trades.

Do you think this cut is going to help recruit people into the
trades or help with the trades deficit, or is this going to be a prob‐
lem? Any one of you can answer that.

Mr. Jim Facette: I'll go first, Mr. Chair.

Anything that can be done to encourage people into a trade is
welcome. Cutting something could have the opposite effect.

That said, it's not a simple equation. If we go back in time to the
1950s, we had a large number of people come from Europe post
World War II. My in-laws were part of that. They had a trade, al‐
though not construction-related.

Society valued trades in the bigger picture. I question whether
that value is there today in society, and that's a bigger problem.
When I suggested encouraging your children, your grandchildren
and your friends to go into construction—I said that to the Minister
of Immigration in a meeting in October of last year—I meant it.
The old expression is, “Charity begins at home.” That's a small way
to encourage your own family to at least consider it.

As I mentioned earlier, there are levers that the federal govern‐
ment has to encourage people to look at a trade in construction, the
tax system being one of them, and then encouraging provinces and
municipalities to get rid of some of the regulations that Daniel
talked about a little earlier.
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Yes, I think cutting any kind of incentive could diminish the abil‐
ity of people to pursue a trade, but it's really important that every‐
body really value their role in society. It's changing in certain pock‐
ets, but it's not changing enough.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Mr. Kyle Seeback: My family has gone full circle. My grandfa‐

ther was a carpenter. My dad became a lawyer. I became a lawyer.
My son is now a carpenter's apprentice, so we've gone full circle.
We're certainly trying to do our part.

Innovation's great, but input costs are also a problem. We have
an affordability problem with respect to homes and building homes.
I think everyone would agree with me on that. Input costs are a big
factor. I did my own little investigation, and Canada produces 13
million tonnes of cement. Cement is obviously used in construc‐
tion. It's 0.6 tonnes of CO2 that's emitted for every tonne of cement.
At $65 per tonne, the carbon tax works out to be half a billion dol‐
lars that's added to the cost of cement.

Would you agree with me that making inputs in the construction
industry more expensive increases the affordability challenge that
Canadians have of buying homes?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Obviously, any increased tax or any other
levy that may be put on construction materials or labour is not help‐
ful. That's obvious.

Now, the carbon tax is a whole new subject, which I'm certainly
not an expert on. If you say to me that because of this, it's now
more expensive and it's now going to get passed down to the home‐
owner, who now has to borrow more money, perhaps at a higher in‐
terest rate than they're used to, and so on and so forth, it's obviously
not going to be helpful in increasing our houses on the ground pro‐
gram.

You mentioned the removal of the $1,000 incentive for an ap‐
prentice. I would look at this from a different perspective, actually.
That $1,000, obviously, is a nice gift to give to an apprentice.
Would that be enough to entice him to go into the trades rather than
into IT? I wouldn't think so.

What you may want to consider—again, it's a much bigger sub‐
ject to discuss—is where the incentive is for the employer, the
trades guy, the existing tradesperson, the existing Red Seal trades‐
person. What is his incentive? He's offering his time to train up a
young man or woman to become an apprentice. Truly, where is his
incentive?

We have many tradespeople retiring and no one coming up from
behind. Where is their incentive to bring on new apprentices?
They're being paid minimum wage now. Next year, it will be $25 or
whatever it might be, but that apprentice may leave at any given
time. They have a five-year apprenticeship of 9,000 hours or what‐
ever it might be, but in year three, they may go. That's a big prob‐
lem.
● (1150)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Seeback.

We'll now move to Mr. Van Bynen for five minutes.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen (Newmarket—Aurora, Lib.): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

My first question will be for Mr. Silveira.

I had the opportunity to visit your site at York University and
was quite impressed with the progress you're making.

You mentioned a project that you had in Leamington. Can you
tell me more about that project? Was it a group of single-family
dwellings? Was it a multiple-dwelling unit?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: It's important to mention that my involve‐
ment in that project was through my employment with the universi‐
ty when I was a research associate there. It has nothing to do with
my current employment right now.

That was a one-storey building for four tiny units, and that build‐
ing is being used by an institution called The Bridge. They deal
with youth in need in Leamington, Ontario. It's a residential build‐
ing, but it is being used by that institution right now.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Are you doing multiple storeys with that
technique?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: Yes. I had involvement in multiple-storey
projects as well. The maximum that we accomplished here in
Canada was in Kingston, Ontario. It was a three-storey building.
We printed the basement, the main floor and part of the second
floor.

The technology right now.... There are a few printers available,
and we have two different printers. One of them is able to print up
to three storeys without needing to move the printer up. With just
one position, you can print three storeys.

The other printer is a bit more flexible. We can print multiple
storeys by moving the printer up. It's a very light printer. It's 2,500
kilograms. With a small crane, you can bring the printer to the next
floor.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: You mentioned earlier that to realize the
full potential of this, and I think other innovation technology, we
need to address some key issues.

There's advanced, targeted research to fill gaps identified by in‐
dustry players and rapidly updating building codes. We keep hear‐
ing this over and over again. You've said that time is money. There
are delays. It takes up to seven years.

How do we crack that logjam?
Dr. Marcos Silveira: One of the good things about technology is

that you can build faster. However, when you are applying for the
building permits, for example, it's going to be a longer process, be‐
cause the current building code.... For example, the Ontario build‐
ing code doesn't have any specific guidelines for innovative solu‐
tions, so you fall under, for example, the alternative solutions chap‐
ter. If you have the chance to look over that chapter, you're going to
see that it's a one-page chapter that gives the building official the
ability to require whatever they want to have from you in order to
approve that project. That means that in most of the cases they're
going to be asking for—requiring—tests like fire tests, fire-rating
tests, some structural testing, some thermal testing.
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Those are just the tests on day one. It's going to take more than a
year or two for you to get that testing done. Across municipalities,
this is going to change, because if you go to a different building of‐
ficial, they can require a different thing.

I think number one would be to have the building code allow for
innovation that has already been proved through research. If you
have research data that can back up your claims, you potentially
don't need to redo all that testing. The second thing would be to de‐
velop the standards specifically for additive construction. That
technology has been shown to be a good technology to produce
faster and more efficient structural components.
● (1155)

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: I have only one more minute, but I'd like
to ask one question of all three of you.

Can you give me an example of a municipality that has an expe‐
dited and efficient process for the approval of buildings that we
might invite here to give us examples of breaking the logjam of
having the building code and development approvals?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I could actually speak to that.

In fact, our show home for Flexobuild is in Pelham, Ontario, just
south of St. Catharines. In actual fact, that building permit, I be‐
lieve, was approved in less than eight days.

Mr. Jim Facette: An example would be the city of Vancouver.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: I would add Leamington, Ontario.
Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Okay.

Do I still have some time?
The Chair: You did have two seconds, but it's gone.
Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Van Bynen.

[Translation]

Ms. Chabot, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Ms. Louise Chabot: I will let Mr. Pascoe answer the question I

asked everyone earlier.

Workers have told us that all innovative processes have to take
workers into consideration because they are also part of the solu‐
tion. They have to be involved up front. They said that sometimes
great plans are presented, but the workers have not been included in
the process.

What role do you see for workers in the innovative processes
which are being implemented and which we commend?
[English]

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Thank you.

You were mentioning before the safety-on-site aspect, I believe.
Obviously, workers' safety is of paramount importance to everyone
in the construction industry.

Workers play a tremendous role. We have had automation in fac‐
tories for some years now. In the construction industry, any prefab‐
ricated product—be it the whole house itself or elements of that
house—in a factory environment.... Safety procedures are a lot eas‐

ier to control, because you have machine guarding, automation and
so on. You have a known entity being done, whereas on a construc‐
tion site, as you know, there are many variables that could be
caused by simple things such as the weather.

In our particular case, which I can speak to with authority, we do
not have any high work environments. If we have a two-storey
home, it's only two storeys. We don't use heavy equipment per se,
so that in itself is very safety-driven. The power tools we use are
handheld, battery-powered tools. There's no danger in that regard
with common sense and, obviously, fundamental training.

In the prefabricated world at the factory level, I think safety is a
lot easier to control, as I explained. Construction sites always have
an element of risk. Proper safety training and adherence to those
standards are of paramount importance, and that starts from the
foreman down, as we all know.

[Translation]

Ms. Louise Chabot: What is the percentage of women in your
sector?

[English]

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I don't know the exact number, but I would
estimate around 10%, 15% or maybe even 20%. When you go to a
trade school now, there are a lot more women involved in the
trades, which is obviously fantastic. We should be encouraging all
genders to participate in a trade program.

As I explained before, I think incentives can be given to the stu‐
dents themselves, but I think more incentives should be given to the
final employer, the Red Seal tradesperson. I think that would be a
much more effective method of spending money to entice trades to
become more spoken about around a dinner table.

The Chair: We'll go to Ms. Zarrillo for two and a half minutes.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: I'm going to ask this of Mr. Facette and
then Mr. Silveira.

The Bank of Canada has been really bothering me for a couple of
years. I know that tomorrow we're going to have an announcement
on the interest rate. There are many discussions that the Bank of
Canada went too far on the raising of interest rates.

What really has me bothered is the mandate of the Bank of
Canada, which is part of the government's jurisdiction. The finance
minister sits on the governance model for the Bank of Canada.
We're continually told that the Bank of Canada has one tool, and it's
keeping inflation stable. That's it. The Bank of Canada Act does not
talk about people and the impact on people. It's to protect Canada
as a state.
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Unfortunately, the Governor of the Bank of Canada refused two
invitations to this committee. He didn't come and doesn't think that
housing has anything to do with him. I would like to see some mod‐
ernization.

You mentioned, Mr. Facette, that the workforce is modernizing.
It has a different thought process and a different culture. I really
think the Bank of Canada needs to do the same. I'd love to hear
your thoughts on what the Bank of Canada should be measuring in
the modern economy and how it can help get homes built.
● (1200)

Mr. Jim Facette: That's a loaded question.

I can tell you that, from a monetary perspective, the Bank of
Canada's decisions likely have an impact on private investment in
the longer term. There is uncertainty in the marketplace right now. I
have a board member whose company has had three jobs delayed
due to the uncertainty.

In terms of this mandate, Mr. Chair, through you to the hon‐
ourable member, to be honest with you, this is probably outside of
my scope. There are many other jurisdictions that can look at that
question more carefully. There are pros and cons to having the
Bank of Canada expand its mandate, and it's out of my purview,
Mr. Chair.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Mr. Silveira, do you have any comments
about that?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: I'll say the same; it's out of my scope.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Mr. Pascoe, do you have any comments to

share?
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I'll join that train, I think.

Obviously, money is everything in this day and age. The Bank of
Canada has been very influential on private investment over the last
five or six years, as we know, and we're all anticipating that tomor‐
row will be a big news day.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: What would an announcement of a signifi‐
cant drop tomorrow do to the industry for house building?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: For private clients—not talking about gener‐
al contractors, but obviously they're included as well—if their inter‐
est rate drops down by half a per cent or three-quarters of a per
cent, whatever it might be, that is real money in the back pocket.
That is money they can now invest in their home and the future, for
themselves or their children.

For property developers, it's enormous. There are millions of dol‐
lars that a property developer has to put up front many years from
completion before he gets that money back in home sales.

Bank of Canada interest rates are fundamental to what's happen‐
ing in the building industry, in my humble opinion.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Zarrillo.

Ms. Falk, go ahead for five minutes.
Mrs. Rosemarie Falk (Battlefords—Lloydminster, CPC):

Thank you very much, Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for being here today.

Mr. Silveira, I'd like to start with you. You made a comment re‐
garding a project that you were able to be a part of, an hour outside
of Calgary.

That's not remote by any means. That might be rural, which is
very different from remote.

I come from rural Saskatchewan, a landlocked province. Every‐
thing has to come by truck, by train or by air. There are communi‐
ties in my province, some first nations communities in particular,
where the only way you have access to them is by plane. That's the
only way. There are no major runways, so planes are very small in
order to get things up there. There's even a point where you're go‐
ing so far up north that you don't have paved roads. If you're driv‐
ing, you're driving on dirt roads.

Are any of you able to provide services to remote communities,
those that are fly-in? Are you able to take your materials, plop them
on a plane and send them?

Mr. Jim Facette: I'll take that.

The short answer is yes. The non-residential construction world
has experience doing it.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: Does “non-residential” mean “commer‐
cial”?

Mr. Jim Facette: That's right.

Our industry has a lot of experience in doing that already. If you
look at the number of remote sites, as I said earlier.... I'll reference
my son for a third time. He worked an hour north of Kapuskasing,
and it was fly and drive. They can produce local materials on site,
but logistics are a major part of it, as you referenced. They're criti‐
cal.

Regardless of whether you're building homes or what you're do‐
ing, you need to plan in advance and do as much as you can in fab‐
rication in advance. If you have to fly things in on smaller run‐
ways.... I do have a bit of an aviation background. There are some
aircraft that can land and take off in some shorter areas, but road
access is always preferred.

If you look at the ring of fire project in the province of Ontario,
the first thing they're doing is they're building a $1-billion road to
alleviate that very infrastructure need of having to fly things in to
remote areas and engage with the local first nations communities.

We do have experience doing it. We do it now. We can build
those multi-unit facilities that are required on-site, but it really does
boil down to logistics.

● (1205)

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: Yes.

Dr. Marcos Silveira: I can also comment on that.

You're right. We got there by road, which, by the way, was a de‐
cent road. It was not a back road—

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: It was paved.
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Dr. Marcos Silveira: Yes, thanks for the correction.

Our technology comes down to three main components: We have
the machine, the robot; we have the materials; and we also have the
structural engineering design, the final product itself. When it
comes to the machine, we have a machine that is very flexible. It
goes through a regular doorway. The weight is 2,500 kilograms, so
that can go into a small plane for sure.

To have a solid response for you in terms of whether it's possible
to build with this technology in a remote area, it's going to depend
on the materials that we have available in that remote area. Again,
we want to be using as much as we can from local materials, mean‐
ing sand and gravel—

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: I just want to challenge you guys to not
leave out the rural and remote places. When you're inventing and
being the innovators that I believe a lot of businesses are, I chal‐
lenge you to not forget about those communities that are rural and
sometimes far up north. I think that's very important.

I just want to follow up quickly, because I don't have a lot of
time. We know that the carbon tax costs...on everything. We know
that. That's something that everybody knows, especially Canadians.
Therefore, I'm wondering, how does the added transportation cost
impact the interests of Canadians or business in taking up these
projects? You mentioned commercial, Mr. Facette. Is that a deter‐
rent for people to invest in this?

Mr. Jim Facette: It can be. When someone looks at investing in
a construction project, they're going to look at all of the input costs,
and they'll make the determination on whether it's worth it or not.
To the extent that you're able to lower those input costs, it increases
the feasibility of the project's getting done. It's as simple as that. It
just boils down to the math, so the short answer is yes.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: Okay, thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Falk.

We'll probably get back to that.

We'll now go to Mr. Collins for five minutes.

Mr. Collins.
Mr. Chad Collins (Hamilton East—Stoney Creek, Lib.): Yes,

thanks, Mr. Chair.

Thanks to the witnesses for your attendance here today.

I'll take us back to the study, which is housing innovation and
how the government can assist both public and private partners
with incentivizing new supply and getting us the units that we need
to get us out of this housing crisis.

Mr. Pascoe, I'll start with you.

I've always found, through my time representing my constituents
at two levels of government, that when all three levels of govern‐
ment work together, we find a greater success in whatever problem
we're trying to tackle. In this instance, it's housing. We could cer‐
tainly sit around the table today and call out municipalities and
mayors across the country who we feel maybe aren't doing their
part. However, that doesn't get us any further along the way in

terms of getting us new supply and driving innovation in the hous‐
ing sector.

Our government's taken a bit of a different approach. We created
the housing accelerator fund, which speaks to many of the issues
that you raised in terms of the delays there can be in the municipal
process. We don't control municipalities. They fall under the juris‐
diction of the provincial and territorial governments. However, we
do play a role in the housing sector.

The housing accelerator fund seeks to incentivize municipalities
to change the way they do business in terms of possibly creating a
red-carpet process to incentivize new supply.

I know that in your area of the country, the City of St. Catharines
has created a grant process for accessory dwelling units. They're us‐
ing federal resources to provide those grants to your customers.

How do programs like that, along with those grants and the in‐
centives, assist in terms of driving customers through your facility
or to your door, and also how do they help in terms of driving inno‐
vation in your plant and in the industry?

● (1210)

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Certainly, we've had direct involvement in
the housing accelerator fund, in the sense that St. Catharines was
awarded some $24 million, I believe—don't quote me on that—to
offer homeowners who want to put an ADU in their backyard up
to $80,000. This is tremendous. It's absolutely fantastic. We're quite
close to St. Catharines. Since then, we've had numerous inquiries.
We're very active right now in the building process for those ADUs.

However, if I had to criticize the fund—this is based on my per‐
sonal knowledge—St. Catharines has $80,000 to give out until the
pot is empty. That is fine. It has to empty sooner or later. It has to
end. However, neighbouring municipalities like Thorold, Pelham
and so on get nothing. Rather than giving it to an individual munic‐
ipality, I think a regional approach could possibly be much more ef‐
fective. I can say that Thorold, which is quite near St. Catharines,
has a much higher ADU uptake per head of population than St.
Catharines, but they receive nothing.

Although the housing accelerator fund is excellent, obviously, a
better understanding of how it could be distributed would certainly
be more effective.

Mr. Chad Collins: That's a great recommendation for the study.

There is some question, of course, about next year, because dif‐
ferent governments have different priorities. There'll be some ques‐
tion as to whether programs like that should stick around.

Can you provide recommendations on how the federal govern‐
ment can further incentivize or expand upon, as you just referenced,
the current programs we have?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Absolutely.
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I keep coming back to tradespeople. You know, we can give out
money left, right and centre, to be perfectly honest. “Here's all the
money in the world.” However, if you have no one to build them,
that's when it stops. Again, the incentivization of apprentices in the
Red Seal trades, or of the employers of those apprentices, is some‐
thing that should be discussed at some level to at least acknowledge
it is problematic.

It's not because people don't want to go into the trades. It's be‐
cause the jobs may not be there when they finish their training.

Mr. Chad Collins: Mr. Silveira, I attended York University to
see what you have, in terms of the program you offer and some of
the innovation you're driving on site.

One of the questions I have is this: How do we bridge the gap
between the innovation you're driving—your process—and the tra‐
ditional homebuilders who have their own blueprint that's worked
for many decades? Some of those processes haven't changed for al‐
most 100 years. They're doing things today the same way they may
have done them decades ago.

How do you introduce your innovation to the industry, when
some might feel a bit of discomfort adopting that as the new way of
doing business in their realm, municipality or part of the country?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: It comes down to two components: train‐
ing and research.

In order to better know about the technology, we have to invest
in research. We need to have a guided research plan in order to
identify the gaps we have from the industry side of things. In the
industry, we're going to see exactly what the gaps are. That covers
research. Then, the research data are going to inform the develop‐
ment of standards, which is a very important component for the
large-scale adoption of additive construction as a whole.

The second and probably most important one is training. You
need to have the available workforce. I already said that the avail‐
able workforce is hard to find. Everyone agrees on that, at least
most of us here. The available workforce is already decreasing.
Training the tradespeople who are already in the industry, especial‐
ly the concrete industry, for example, is going to be much easier
than training people from outside the industry. This applies to the
robotics industry as well. The auto industry uses a lot of robots al‐
ready, so getting those people and bringing them into construction
is something we also see as possible.
● (1215)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Collins.

Mrs. Gray.
Mrs. Tracy Gray (Kelowna—Lake Country, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for being here today.

The Canadian Roofing Contractors Association's 2024-27 strate‐
gic plan includes a goal to “be the change” by being proactive and
leading. This study is looking at innovation in homebuilding and
how government red tape in municipalities or federal agencies like
the CMHC is undermining it.

Are there bureaucratic regulatory requirements that roofers en‐
counter that are getting in the way of homebuilding?

Mr. Jim Facette: I don't know if there are necessarily federal
ones getting in the way of building homes across the board.

To the extent that federal policy can link what it does right down
to the municipal level, to say, “Hey we have this. We want to give it
to you. However, we need to see something,” it might be helpful.
We're already seeing linking funding to outcomes in current gov‐
ernment policy. That might be helpful.

The other thing it can do is.... My colleague Daniel mentioned
incentivizing employers to take on apprentices, because it is a ma‐
jor commitment for an employer to take on an apprentice. If there's
something the feds can do in that regard, it would be helpful.

I think the greatest impediment to growing one's business is, in
fact, the availability of the people right now, even on the immigra‐
tion side. I know that immigration right now is getting a bit of a
rough ride, but when it comes to roofing and building envelope
construction, these are good-paying jobs. They pay between $35
and $75 an hour. These are not low-paying jobs at all.

Making sure that roofing and building envelopes, from a federal
government immigration policy perspective, is carved out from any
kind of perception that it's low-wage would be helpful.

Mrs. Tracy Gray: We've heard other testimony that the capital
gains tax increase is causing investment, in particular in innovation,
to leave Canada. In a press conference in June, the finance minister
said the Liberal capital gains tax hike is going to increase the num‐
ber of homes being built in Canada.

My question is whether you think the capital gains tax hike will
increase innovation and homebuilding.

I'll go first to Mr. Pascoe.

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I think I said it earlier, but any tax, levy or
charge put upon any sort of homebuilding entity is a negative re‐
sult.

I'm not an expert on tax law or what you just mentioned—I'm
sorry—but anything that is prohibitive against homebuilding is not
a good thing. I think raising taxes, charges or levies is obviously a
negative.

Mrs. Tracy Gray: Thank you.

Mr. Facette.

Mr. Jim Facette: Somebody must have been at my board meet‐
ing last week, because our board talked about this then.

To quickly answer your question, no. It's having an effect that I
don't think was intended at all.
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Mrs. Tracy Gray: Mr. Silveira.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: No comment.
Mrs. Tracy Gray: Okay. Thank you.

We've heard other testimony that Canadian home builders are
now moving to the U.S. and are actually building the same number
of homes, either in Canada or in the U.S., due to red tape, bureau‐
cracy and increasing taxes and costs in Canada.

Have you heard about this, and why would building in the U.S.,
for example, be more favourable than in Canada?

Mr. Pascoe, do you have any comments?
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I personally haven't heard that story, to be

perfectly honest. I can only speculate as to why they would do that
otherwise.

Mrs. Tracy Gray: Mr. Facette.
Mr. Jim Facette: I've heard it directly, including from my son,

who said, “If I get a job offer in the U.S., Dad, I'm probably not
coming back.”

Mrs. Tracy Gray: Wow.
Mr. Jim Facette: It's very real. A lot of it has to do with the abil‐

ity to afford to buy a home themselves. From a personal perspec‐
tive, there are opportunities down in the United States and the taxes
they have to pay here versus there.... It's very real.

I've heard it directly, and I can tell you from first-hand informa‐
tion that they are going.

Mrs. Tracy Gray: Mr. Silveira.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: Within our industry, of course.... I men‐

tioned at the beginning that I'm part of various committees and we
are developing standards and doing research across the border.
There is a lot more development on the other side of the border.

I cannot say exactly why, but in most cases, they have more abil‐
ities to.... For example, when it comes to building permit applica‐
tions, they have the ability to use innovation in a faster way without
going through long permit processes, because they're using some‐
thing that is still not regulated. That is needed for the technology to
develop.
● (1220)

Mrs. Tracy Gray: It's less red tape and bureaucracy.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: Yes.
Mrs. Tracy Gray: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mrs. Gray.

Mr. Long.
Mrs. Tracy Gray: I'm sorry. I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

For clarification, this was five minutes. Is that correct? Yes. Okay.
The Chair: Yes, but because the other one went over a little....

You're correct, Mrs. Gray.

Mr. Long, you have five minutes.
Mr. Wayne Long (Saint John—Rothesay, Lib.): Thank you,

Chair.

Good afternoon, colleagues.

Thank you to our witnesses.

The New Brunswick Roofing Contractors Association is in my
riding of Saint John—Rothesay, and Ronnie Hutton—I assume, Mr.
Facette, that you know Ronnie—is a good friend of mine. I got to
go there a few years back, probably three years ago now, and tour
the facility on the Golden Mile with Ronnie. I was blown away by
what I saw with the training. To your point, the fact that roofers can
be Red Seals.... He was telling me that roofers can make
over $100,000 now, and I said, “You're kidding me.” I was totally
impressed with it.

In a previous life, when I was a student, I worked at a home ren‐
ovation place, like the past Home Depot, and I sold roofing. Obvi‐
ously, in those days, roofing was basically three-in-one shingles
and tar paper roofing. I'm dating myself. Now, you're progressing,
and you still see asphalt roofing, but you see metal roofing and rub‐
ber roofing.

I know I've seen green-roof initiatives and cool-roof initiatives.
Green-roof initiatives, I think, weren't spearheaded in the province
of Ontario, but they were about controlling rainwater runoff. Cool
roofs, obviously, would help reduce carbon, because the houses
wouldn't have to work so hard to cool down. Can you just give us
your comments on the leading innovative technology you're seeing
and comment on green roof and cool roof?

Mr. Jim Facette: Thank you for the question.

I'm glad to hear that you visited the New Brunswick facility. The
trainer there is Edgar. He is one of the most sought-after or the
sought-after trainer for Red Seal in the province of New
Brunswick. The man's outstanding. I met him myself. He's abso‐
lutely a super person.

When it comes to different roofing systems—cool roofs or blue
roofs are what they're also referred to as—and green-roof systems,
there is a company in Toronto called LiveRoof that does a lot of
that kind of work. We're seeing more and more of it on commercial
roofing. On residential, you're getting the solar panels and whatnot
that get done. There is that kind of work that's out there, and the
whole idea is that it's about energy efficiency and about dealing
with the water when it comes to—

Mr. Wayne Long: Is the Province of Ontario incentivizing
builders to use green roofs and cool roofs? Is it proper...?

Mr. Jim Facette: I honestly don't know. I think what we are see‐
ing—and we spoke this afternoon about it—is the building code.
There is a national effort to harmonize the national building code.
That's hopefully going to be done by 2030. We'll see if that actually
happens.
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Right now, the provinces adopt the building code, and it has no
enforceability at the national level from the National Research
Council. What we see being put into the building code is more of
this kind of thing going forward.

We are seeing those kinds of incentives, and we're also seeing
private owners who want to make use of new technologies to re‐
duce their energy costs and to use the rain runoff, to get it away
from the roof—

Mr. Wayne Long: Yes. That's fascinating.
Mr. Jim Facette: —because I can tell you that with the rain that

took place in the course of the weekend, my son was in up to a foot
of water on a roof this weekend. He got awfully wet. He was deal‐
ing with it in a very real way, so I can attest to that for sure.

There are some incentives, but it's really privately driven...what's
out there. Yes, green roofs are there. They're viable. The cool roof
is around, but I don't know that we're seeing the cool roofs neces‐
sarily, yet, to the extent that maybe some people would like.
● (1225)

Mr. Wayne Long: Thank you.

I'm going to share what time I have left with MP Fragiskatos.

Thank you.
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos (London North Centre, Lib.): Thank

you.

Chair, it's always a learning opportunity to hear what Wayne
Long has done in his life. He owned a hockey team, a fishery and
who knows what? The list continues with roofing now.

In any case, thank you very much to the witnesses for being here.

Mr. Silveira, I'll begin with you. I'm interested in the internation‐
al context and what you know about what's happening abroad with
respect to the issues that we've touched on here today. Are there
other countries that have put something in place, whether it's incen‐
tives or other policies, to really propel this kind of building for‐
ward?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: It's specifically about these technologies
when it comes to, for example, standards development—is that
right?

I can say a bit about the United States, because I'm part of some
of the committees there. NIST, the National Institute for Standards
and Technology, put together a committee. They are putting togeth‐
er academia, researchers and industry—all of the players around
this industry—to develop these standards, because you have multi‐
ple levels of these standards.

For example, when it comes to testing, even here in Canada we
still use ASTMs. That's the American Society for Testing Materials.
Over there, of course, they use ASTMs. When it comes to design
guidelines—for example, structural design—you're going to be us‐
ing CSAs. There's the CSA for concrete and the CSA for steel and
all of that.

In the States, they created this group and they identified the gaps
that needed to be filled. They have resources being put towards re‐
search, which is informing the standards development. They're

starting from ASTMs and moving up for the ACI, the ICC and all
of those.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you.

[Translation]

Ms. Chabot, you now have the floor for three minutes.
Ms. Louise Chabot: I have the floor for three minutes,

Mr. Chair. Is that correct?

[English]
The Chair: I'll go to six minutes with you too.

[Translation]
Ms. Louise Chabot: I would like to continue on the same topic.

Mr. Silveira, I don't know much about this, but I would imagine
that the standards have to change more often in response to changes
in the industry. As you said, the current standards may no longer be
in effect in 15 years.

In terms of innovation, how can we make sure that research and
development support you? What steps should we take to ensure that
standards are updated regularly?

[English]
Dr. Marcos Silveira: Usually those standards committees are

continuous, right? They start before the publication of the first ver‐
sion of the standards and they are going to be in place until that
standard is still enforceable. Then, once we find that another ver‐
sion of the standard is needed, we come up with a new publication.
That goes on usually on a three-year basis, or maybe five years, de‐
pending on the type of technology.

For example, reinforced concrete structures have been around for
a little while. That standard is not updated that often. I wouldn't say
that there's not much progress, but the progress is not as much as it
is in new industries like additive construction, for example.

The process would be that you do your research, and your re‐
search findings are going to form the first version of the standard.
Then you keep updating that based on ongoing research.

I hope that answers it.

[Translation]
Ms. Louise Chabot: In Canada, is the process for updating stan‐

dards satisfactory? Could it be improved? Has your sector been
consulted on that?

[English]
Dr. Marcos Silveira: Right now, we don't have any committee

being undertaken here in Canada—for example, at the CSA level or
the NBCC or OBC levels. My short answer is no.
● (1230)

[Translation]
Ms. Louise Chabot: If you have any recommendations for us in

that regard, you may submit them to us.
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In your opinion, is there enough research and development?

If the federal government wants to focus on climate change and
the environment, among other issues, it should also innovate in the
residential construction industry. Any measures taken must address
environmental concerns.

Mr. Facette and Mr. Silveira, as an employer and as to calls for
tenders, does Canada make sufficient use of the type of industry
that you support?

[English]
The Chair: Give a short answer, please.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: In terms of R and D effort, yes, we have a

large R and D effort in place. The problem is that the research is
being conducted independently, meaning that every single re‐
searcher is going to have a different approach or is going to be
looking at a different problem. Sometimes we miss some gaps;
some of the gaps are not being covered, and some of the gaps are
being covered two or three times.

I think what we are missing for the rapid development of this
technology, for example, is a unified research initiative. For exam‐
ple, as I responded to the other member, NIST in the States put to‐
gether this committee that they are using to identify the gaps. Based
on those gaps, they are creating research efforts in order to solve a
real problem.

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Chabot.

Ms. Zarrillo, you have three minutes.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I just want to start by saying today that I was reminded of some‐
thing when you were talking about your son potentially going down
to the States. It reminded me of when I lived in Texas. When my
child went into kindergarten, she didn't go to play dates alone; I al‐
ways went with her. When she went to grade one, she went on play
dates alone, and I was reminded, almost on her third play date, that
most people have a gun in their home, and they're not necessarily
locked up all the time.

I had to start thinking about, if I sent my daughter to a play date,
whether that family locked up their guns. I used to think about that
when I went to work, too. As a Canadian, it never even crossed my
mind that I was going to the office every day and a disproportionate
number of folks had a gun either in their purse or on their person.
When I decided to have another child, I came back to Canada, be‐
cause it's just too expensive; I couldn't even have a child. There are
just so many other choices that come along with living in the Unit‐
ed States.

I also hear a lot about research and that the Canadian government
does not invest in research. We know that, for Ph.D.s, they haven't
been investing. We talk about productivity in Canada, and we know
that Canadian companies skim all of their profits and don't reinvest
to the same degree in research and development, in capital invest‐
ments. American companies that come up here want to make sure
their Canadian component is not making money so they don't need
to pay taxes.

I want to go back to what we can do federally on research and
development to get research done here, to become centres of excel‐
lence on innovation. What can be done?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: I think there's a lot to be done. Specifically,
one of the problems that we are running into right now, for exam‐
ple, in engineering is finding a graduate student locally. It's very
difficult, because the wage that we pay a Ph.D. student is not attrac‐
tive at all. Most of them come from overseas. I'm an example of
that.

Right now, with the immigration change, this is making our life
as a company that sponsors research throughout the universities,
throughout NSERC grants, for example.... We are having a hard
time getting those students here, because you don't have them avail‐
able in the country, and bringing them from overseas is kind of a
challenge right now.

Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: What do we need to do as a federal gov‐
ernment?

Dr. Marcos Silveira: I think wages need to be reviewed, that's
for sure, because it's not competitive at all, especially in engineer‐
ing, because, as an engineer, you're going to have access to better
wages as opposed to going to a Ph.D. program, which is a four-year
program after you've already accomplish your master's. You are al‐
ready at least 26 or 27 years old and, in order to get your Ph.D., you
need to go over that low wage kind of thing. That's one thing.

On the research side of things, I think, for us as a company, we
lack having access to larger grants that are going to enable us to
perform those research programs in order to use those data for the
industry, not just for us as a company but also to inform the com‐
munity, as a whole, by using those data, those results, to inform the
standards that are going to look after the safety and quality of the
products that we deliver to everyone.
● (1235)

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Zarrillo.

I'd like a little direction from the committee. We have about 25
minutes on the clock. Does the committee want to continue?

We're going to go with Mr. Aitchison, so I'll follow the same slot.
If anybody doesn't want to participate, they can pass their time to
somebody else, so keep that in mind.

We'll begin.
Mr. Michael Coteau: Are we agreeing that we get one slot each

and one more round? Is that fair?
The Chair: If that's what you want, that's okay. Done.

Mr. Aitchison, you have six minutes.
Mr. Scott Aitchison: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

Again, thanks to everyone for being here. We've heard a lot of in‐
teresting stuff.

I want to hone in on the approvals process, not so much at the
municipal level but at the federal level, and some of the innovations
that are occurring.

I'm sure you're all familiar with Kevin Lee, the CEO of the Cana‐
dian Home Builders' Association. When he was here, he said:
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We need the provinces, with the support of the federal government, to step in
and create harmonization at the municipal level. We also need a national code
interpretation centre that is binding, so that code solutions that are proven in one
town aren't rejected in the next town.

We also need a less expensive and more nimble Canadian construction materials
centre that can help new technologies become acceptable solutions in the build‐
ing code more quickly.

I hammer away at municipalities all the time about the develop‐
ment approvals process and the outrageous costs and charges. This
government loves to pat itself on the back for its housing accelera‐
tor fund, which makes no difference in terms of what cities do with
their development shares. They keep increasing them, making it
more expensive and, therefore, slowing things down.

At the federal level, I wonder if you can speak to what a federal
government that truly gets it and is seized with the matter could do
to bring parties together to say, number one, the national building
code does not take affordability into consideration. The way we ap‐
prove new technologies and review them is painfully slow, and, as
we know, it can be interpreted differently from one town to the
next, never mind one province to the next.

We don't have lots of time, but I'd like each of you to imagine
you're running the show and you could wave a magic wand. What
would you do at the federal level to knock heads together and get
everyone in this country moving in the same direction with real ac‐
tion?

I'll start with you, Daniel.
Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Making the municipalities.... The federal

government can do so much, but I think financial encouragements,
or other types, normally move things. I think putting limits on the
time it takes from a building permit being submitted to being ap‐
proved would be the easiest thing to start with; start there.

If there are different rules and regulations from one municipality
to another, provincial or otherwise, whether they're following the
Ontario building code, the Manitoba one or the national one, so be
it, but put a time limit on it. What should it be? It doesn't matter
what it is, but if you can actually make that time limit a real thing,
then people can work with that. They can budget for that.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Would real, hard time limits be your num‐
ber one thing?

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: Yes, because you would know what to ex‐
pect. You could budget production; you could budget labour; you
could budget everything, because as soon as that building permit's
approved, it's go time.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Force some timelines into the process that
are tangible, reliable and—

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: My opinion is to start there.
Mr. Scott Aitchison: Okay, that's great.

Jim, what would you do?
Mr. Jim Facette: The question was about what the federal gov‐

ernment can do, and it's about leadership. At the end of the day, I
don't see any cabinet minister focused on construction, period.
That's the end of the story.

I don't want more bureaucracy, so don't get me wrong, but if we
had someone focused on construction who could bring the parties
together in a room and work towards long-term solutions.... I don't
have all the steps worked out, but if there were someone responsi‐
ble at the federal level for moving construction along and having
different mandates and whatnot, I think that would be leadership.
● (1240)

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Great, thank you. That's a good answer. I
like that one.

Marcos, go ahead.
Dr. Marcos Silveira: On the innovation side of things, I'm going

to start with what we have in place right now. For example, when
you don't have published standards available for your technology,
you can apply to the CCMC within the NRC. The CCMC process
is, indeed, a long one. You're trying to cover something that is not
covered by the national building code or the Ontario building code
with what is still a long process. The first phase is going to take at
least 18 months, and then in those 18 months they're going to tell
you what tests you need to do, so it will take them 18 months to tell
you what you need to test.

After that, you're going to be partnering with universities to get
those tests done, and those are going to take at least two more
years, maybe three, and then you will have the results to go back
and apply for that certification. I don't think this is exactly some‐
thing that is going to bridge the gap in technology that is not cov‐
ered in the national building code, so having a process similar to
the CCMC's, but faster, would be my number one wish.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: Thank you all for that. That was amazing.

I'm going to take the remaining seconds I have to move a motion,
if I could, Mr. Chair. It's on notice.

The motion reads:
That, with respect to the article published by the Canada Mortgage and Housing
Corporation, or CMHC, and Mr. Aled ab Iorwerth on October 3, 2024, titled “In
2023, higher rates resulted in 30,000 fewer housing starts”, the committee hold
one meeting for two hours with the following witness from CMHC:
Aled ab Iorwerth, Deputy Chief Economist, CMHC.

The Chair: The clerk has advised me that it has the 48-hour no‐
tice. Mr. Aitchison has moved it.

Is there any discussion?

Madame Chabot.
[Translation]

Ms. Louise Chabot: I was going to say that we didn't receive
notice of the motion 48 hours in advance, but you're right.

When did the committee receive the notice so I can locate it
please?
[English]

The Chair: The motion was circulated on October 4. We are
now on October 22.

Is there any discussion on the motion?

Mr. Fragiskatos.
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Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: If I remember, we already passed the
one calling for the CEO to come. This is the one for the deputy
economist.

The Chair: Yes.

We have Madam Zarrillo on the motion of Mr. Aitchison.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm fine with the motion, but I'd like to make an amendment that
we also invite the Governor of the Bank of Canada to appear at that
meeting. We know the reason CMHC is so important to the work
that is involved in housing is that regular financing can be very dif‐
ficult to afford. Thank you.

The Chair: We have an amendment now.

We have Mr. Aitchison, on the amendment.
Mr. Scott Aitchison: I just have a question on the amendment. I

suspect it's entirely likely that the gentleman from the CMHC is
more inclined to come here than the Governor of the Bank of
Canada. If the Governor of the Bank of Canada declines but the fel‐
low from the CMHC says he can come, are we still having a meet‐
ing, or is this going to be held up by this amendment that we have
to have both?
● (1245)

The Chair: Any request can be attached to a motion. It's left to
the witness to be called. Just for clarification, the last time we did
this, the Governor of the Bank of Canada said that he attends the
finance committee meetings and can discuss housing issues there,
which he has. That's a committee that he appears before.

Mr. Scott Aitchison: I'm fine with that. I just want to make sure
that it doesn't eliminate the meeting altogether if he doesn't show
up.

The Chair: To my knowledge, it does not, no.

I have to deal with the amendment of Madam Zarrillo.

Do you have a comment on the amendment, Mr. Fragiskatos?
Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Just quickly, we've been down this path

before. We know that the Governor of the Bank of Canada goes to
the finance committee. Ms. Zarrillo is interested in what he has to
say—that's very valid. She can, with respect, go to the finance com‐
mittee meetings and listen to the governor of the bank. He appears
there many times a year. I am interested in hearing from the deputy
economist as well.

I think we have a straightforward motion on the table. I'm not
sure where the rationale for the amendment is coming from, consid‐
ering, as you just said, Mr. Chair, that we've been down this path
before.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fragiskatos—indeed we have.

Ms. Zarrillo.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Yes, we have the Bank of Canada governor who has twice denied
a request to come to this committee. I was elected by the people of
Port Moody—Coquitlam, who are very concerned about interest

rates, their mortgages, housing and the ability to put carriage hous‐
es on their properties. They can't afford to carry that right now.

I actually find it quite insulting that I'm supposed to go to the fi‐
nance table because this table doesn't warrant the presence of the
Governor of the Bank of Canada. I find it insulting, not to me, but
to the residents of Port Moody—Coquitlam, that the Liberal gov‐
ernment, the parliamentary secretary to the Minister of Housing, is
saying to the residents of Port Moody—Coquitlam that they can get
lost, that he doesn't care what they're going through in regard to
housing and the prices of their mortgages, that if they want to know
what the Bank of Canada governor has to say, they can go to the
finance committee.

I'm going to say that the reason women don't come to this table,
why women aren't sitting at municipal tables, why there are hardly
any mayors who are women, is input like Mr. Fragiskatos just put
to this table, which is that finance is more important than social is‐
sues, more important than persons with disabilities. It's more im‐
portant than a family, more important than people being able to car‐
ry their mortgage.

I see Mr. Fragiskatos is talking over me right now, because he
doesn't like to have a light shone on the fact that governors of the
Bank of Canada are equally as important to this committee as they
are to the finance committee, and that social issues and issues that
disproportionately affect women, that matter to women and diverse
genders in this country, are equally as important as finance ones.

I'm making these comments only because I am here for a short
time, and it is important that a woman's voice be heard. I find it
misogynistic of Mr. Fragiskatos to continue to protect not just the
Governor of the Bank of Canada but all of those corporate land‐
lords whom I have repeatedly asked to come here.

Mr. Fragiskatos, when I said I wanted to summon some of those
people, you said that's nuclear, because we know that gentlemen's
agreements—

The Chair: Madam Zarrillo—
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: I have the floor, I think, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Madam Zarrillo, I'm the chair. Please keep your

comments to the amendment that you made.
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: This is so important.
The Chair: To the amendment that you made—
Ms. Bonita Zarrillo: He said this would be nuclear because gen‐

tlemen's agreements protect gentlemen.

I feel very strongly, Mr. Fragiskatos, that as the parliamentary
secretary for housing, you are “gentlemen's agreement-protecting”
both these corporate landlords and the Governor of the Bank of
Canada. Canadians want to hear from them, and I don't understand
why you continue to block it.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.
● (1250)

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Zarrillo.

Seeing no further discussion, I'm going to call a recorded vote on
the amendment of Madam Zarrillo.
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(Amendment negatived: nays 6; yeas 5)

The Chair: We'll now go to the vote on the motion of Mr.
Aitchison.

(Motion agreed to: yeas 11; nays 0)

The Chair: We will now move to Mr. Van Bynen for six min‐
utes, and that will conclude us.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I'd like to share
my time with Mr. Coteau.

I know we're talking about the construction of units, but I keep
hearing that getting to the stage of construction is where the big
logjam is. Has the construction industry undertaken any initiatives
with the federal, provincial or municipal levels of government to
try to get through that logjam?

When we were having a study on the accelerator funding, where
we required improvements in the approval processes, there were
mayors sitting here as witnesses saying that the system is as effi‐
cient as it can get. To this very day, 15 years ago, I started as may‐
or, and the very first building project that was proposed in the
neighbourhood is finally under construction. How do we get
through that logjam? Has the industry done anything to try to ad‐
vance its concerns?

I'll start from right to left, so I'll go to Mr. Pascoe first and then to
Mr. Facette.

Mr. Daniel Pascoe: I can't talk to the industry as a whole with
regard to any sort of bodies representing the industry. I think any
change needs leadership. I mean, as my colleague Jim mentioned,
be it the federal, provincial or municipal level, it needs leadership,
someone who actually wants to change it, someone who actually
has the passion to change it, not the reason to change it. He should
be impassioned about wanting to change it. Anything that someone
wants to do normally ends up getting done. If you've been told to
do it, that's not necessarily the result you'll have.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Okay. I'm keen about the industry.

Mr. Facette, do you have any industry experience?
Mr. Jim Facette: In short, yes, the construction industry, broadly

speaking, be it non-residential or residential, has done a great deal
of advocacy work at all levels of government to speed up the pro‐
cess, to eliminate the approval process and to make it more effi‐
cient—to get rid of the paper burden, if you will, and whatnot. That
goes on.

The reality, though, is that the approval process.... Depending on
where you are, there are some people who just don't want things to
get built, period, end of story. They see things getting built as a
negative, not as a positive, whether it's commercial facilities or res‐
idential. This NIMBY theory of “not in my backyard” is still
around, and it doesn't help.

The industry has done, and continues to do, a great deal of advo‐
cacy work at all levels of government to make the approvals pro‐
cess much easier. Having said that, it's not getting less expensive.
The approval process, the permits that are needed, the money that's
required, and the per-unit costs—whether it's a multi-unit facility or
a single dwelling—just keep going up and up, and you have the

levels of government that are depending on those fees to do what
they do. They see it as a cash cow, as opposed to delaying the im‐
mediate cash they get from the developer and then getting it later
on in having the housing or the commercial establishments built
and getting the tax base there. They want the fees up front. Yes, the
industry has done a lot of work and will continue to do so. What
will get done in the next 10 years remains to be seen.
● (1255)

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you.

I did mention that I'm splitting my time with Mr. Coteau.
Mr. Michael Coteau: Thank you.

Mr. Facette, you spoke a bit about the creation of this minister of
construction. We all know that the federal government is responsi‐
ble for funding, strategy and policy. We know that the provincial
governments are responsible for regulation and administration, and
the municipal governments are responsible for the implementation.

The federal government today is giving more money than any
other government directly to municipalities and provinces to build.
We've seen the GST removed from purpose-built housing. We've
seen a lot of different incentives put in place. Are you saying on be‐
half of the contractors, the roofing contractors, that you represent
across this great country that you think there should be a minister
put in place to actually be responsible for construction? If so, what
would this person do?

Mr. Jim Facette: They say in leadership that it's about vision
first and the details follow.

We are also, at CRCA, part of the National Trade Contractors
Council of Canada. One thing that we in that group have put for‐
ward is a minister responsible for construction in some way.

The vision—and it's just a vision—is that someone, a person, is
actually bringing the industry and all levels of government together
to solve these kinds of problems and identify options going for‐
ward. I don't have all the answers—

Mr. Michael Coteau: What's the job of the housing minister,
from your perspective?

Mr. Jim Facette: I'm in non-residential, so I'll defer to someone
else on that.

I think that the important thing is to have some kind of vision.
Mr. Michael Coteau: I understand your point.

So non-residential....
Mr. Jim Facette: Technically it's called industrial, commercial

and institutional—the ICI sector. To use layman's terms, “non-resi‐
dential” is probably the best term to use.

Mr. Michael Coteau: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Coteau.

Thank you to the witnesses. That will conclude it.

We have only a minute, and I need direction from the committee
on one item.
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Thank you. Mr. Silveira, Mr. Facette and Mr. Pascoe for your ex‐
tensive testimony today in questioning from the committee mem‐
bers. You can leave at will.

There is one item before we conclude that I need direction on. In
the eventuality that ministers are not available to appear on October
31 and/or November 5, members were asked to submit names and
contact information.

Madame Chabot, members were asked to submit the names and
contact information of at least two witnesses for the study on work‐
ers in the seasonal economy in the employment insurance program.

What deadline does the committee wish to set for the rest of the
witness list for this study?

I have to be able to schedule timing. I'm suggesting Friday, Octo‐
ber 25, as the deadline for witnesses for the study.

Madame Chabot, that's your study on seasonal industries and
employment insurance.

Do we have agreement on that?
[Translation]

Ms. Louise Chabot: Mr. Chair, I'm sorry, but there is a delay in
the interpretation.

I am trying to understand what you are saying. Are you talking
about briefs? We have already been asked for our witness list by
5 p.m. today.
[English]

The Chair: It's the witness list.

[Translation]
Ms. Louise Chabot: I can't hear anything. I don't know what

you are saying. I don't hear the interpreter when you are talking.
There is also a problem with the device.

Could someone please tell me what the chair is asking me?
● (1300)

[English]
The Chair: I'll ask the clerk to clarify, Madame Chabot.

[Translation]
The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Ariane Calvert): First, the

chair asked for each party to submit by the end of the day two
names of people they would like to invite as witnesses. The chair
then asked whether the committee agreed to the deadline for sub‐
mitting the remaining names to be added to the witness list, that is,
by the end of the day on October 25.

Ms. Louise Chabot: Okay. I was told November 25. That's why
I got mixed up.

Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: It's October 25.

There is nothing else on the agenda. Is it the will of the commit‐
tee to adjourn until Thursday?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: We are adjourned.
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